

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Locatelli, Camilla

Working Paper

Mind the output gap: The new technocratic politics of EU fiscal rules in Italy

MPIfG Discussion Paper, No. 24/7

Provided in Cooperation with:

Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies (MPIfG), Cologne

Suggested Citation: Locatelli, Camilla (2024): Mind the output gap: The new technocratic politics of EU fiscal rules in Italy, MPIfG Discussion Paper, No. 24/7, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne,

https://hdl.handle.net/21.11116/0000-000F-FF6F-7

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/305293

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



MPIfG Discussion Paper 24/7

Mind the Output Gap

The New Technocratic Politics of EU Fiscal Rules in Italy

Camilla Locatelli



Camilla Locatelli

Mind the Output Gap: The New Technocratic Politics of EU Fiscal Rules in Italy

MPIfG Discussion Paper 24/7 Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung, Köln Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne October 2024

MPIfG Discussion Paper ISSN 0944-2073 (Print) ISSN 1864-4325 (Internet)

© 2024 by the author(s)

About the author

Camilla Locatelli is a doctoral researcher at the Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne. Email: camilla.locatelli@mpifg.de

MPIfG Discussion Papers are refereed scholarly papers of the kind that are publishable in a peer-reviewed disciplinary journal. Their objective is to contribute to the cumulative improvement of theoretical knowledge. Copies can be ordered from the Institute or downloaded as PDF files (free).

Downloads

www.mpifg.de
Go to *Publications / Discussion Papers*Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung
Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies
Paulstr. 3 | 50676 Cologne | Germany
Tel. +49 221 2767-0

Tel. +49 221 2767-0 Fax +49 221 2767-555 www.mpifg.de info@mpifg.de

Abstract

The sovereign debt crisis triggered a process of reforms in European economic governance that pushed for technocratic handling of budget decisions following standardized procedures, target measures, and indicators for fiscal monitoring. This shift, aimed at producing more stability and less conflict in budget decision-making, transformed fiscal policy, producing a new type of technocratic fiscal politics. These new technocratic instruments impact on national policymaking, yet little is known about the processes and actors behind their constitution. Scholarship on the policy response to the euro area crisis has highlighted the role of national interests but neglected the role of expertise in negotiating highly technical fiscal policies. A key measure in this new technical apparatus, the output gap, has been at the center of a heated contestation between Italian and European institutions over the 2014– 2019 period. Taking the case of the Italian output gap, this paper traces the unfolding of the dispute around the methodology for estimating potential output and clearly reveals the new centrality of expertise. The paper argues that rather than producing a less conflictual policy environment and a depoliticizing of fiscal decisions, technocratic fiscal politics has reshaped discussions around budgetary politics. This reshaping extends and transforms actor constellations and venues of fiscal decisions, giving a larger role to technocratic experts.

Keywords: European Union, fiscal policy, Italy, output gap, technocracy

Zusammenfassung

Die Staatsschuldenkrise hat einen Reformprozess in der wirtschaftspolitischen Steuerung Europas in Gang gesetzt, der auf eine technokratische Handhabung von Budgetentscheidungen nach standardisierten Abläufen, Zielvorgaben und Indikatoren für die Finanzkontrolle abzielt. Die Reformen sollten zu mehr Stabilität und weniger Konflikten in Budgetentscheidungsprozessen führen, stattdessen aber entstand eine neue Art technokratischer Fiskalpolitik. Dieses neue technokratische Instrumentarium hat Auswirkungen auf die nationale Politikgestaltung, wobei wenig über die Prozesse und Akteure bekannt ist, die bei seiner Entstehung eine Rolle gespielt haben. Die Fachliteratur zur politischen Reaktion auf die Eurokrise betont die Rolle nationaler Interessen, vernachlässigt aber die Bedeutung von Expertenwissen bei der Aushandlung hochtechnischer fiskalpolitischer Maßnahmen. Ein zentrales Werkzeug dieses Instrumentariums, die Produktionslücke, war zwischen 2014 und 2019 Gegenstand hitziger Debatten zwischen italienischen und europäischen Institutionen. Am Beispiel der italienischen Produktionslücke zeichnet das Papier die Entwicklung des Streits um die Methoden der Potenzialschätzung nach und hebt die neue zentrale Bedeutung von Expertise hervor. Es wird argumentiert, dass die Technokratisierung der Fiskalpolitik nicht etwa zu einem weniger konfliktreichen Politikumfeld und einer Entpolitisierung von Steuerentscheidungen geführt hat, sondern vielmehr zu einer Neugestaltung haushaltspolitischer Debatten. Diese Neugestaltung verändert und erweitert in der Folge Akteurskonstellationen und Schauplätze fiskalpolitischer Entscheidungen und verleiht technokratischer Expertise eine größere Bedeutung.

Schlagwörter: Europäische Union, Fiskalpolitik, Italien, Produktionslücke, Technokratie

Contents

1	Introduction	1
2	Doubling down on rules: Technocratic fiscal politics in the EMU post-sovereign debt crisis	3
3	Research Approach	6
	Italy under European economic governance	6
	The output gap and its pitfalls	8
	The history and role of the output gap in the European framework	11
4	Minding the gap: Origins and development of output gap contestations in Italy	14
	First phase: Expertise and knowledge communities	14
	Second phase: Public politicization and international attention	18
5	Conclusions	21
Re	References	

Mind the Output Gap: The New Technocratic Politics of EU Fiscal Rules in Italy

1 Introduction

At the beginning of the summer of 2019, Italy's destiny within the euro appeared to be at best uncertain. Failing to meet the European debt reduction targets, the Italian government had to authorize a conditional budget freeze as the risk of incurring an Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP) appeared more real than ever. Italy had, just a few months prior, risked running into sanctions due to its inability to meet the Stability and Growth Pact (SGP) parameters. In contrast to earlier conflicts about Italy's public finances, this time many voices argued that the reasons for this lack of compliance had little to do with Italian fiscal profligacy, but rather with a miscalculation on the side of the European Commission. Discussions related to calculating the output gap, a central indicator in the new architecture of fiscal surveillance put in place after the sovereign debt crisis, spread across academic papers, blog entries, and newspaper articles (Brooks and Basile 2019b; 2019c; 2019a; Tooze 2019).

The output gap significantly entered the European fiscal framework thanks to the transition towards the use of structural budgets for fiscal monitoring. These developments were part of a reform process aimed at moving fiscal policy decisions towards technocratic management by relying on economic models and standard procedures (Matthijs and McNamara 2015). As the sovereign debt crisis had brought about constant conflict over fiscal targets, such a move attempted to routinise budgetary decisions, aiming for a more transparent and predictable handling of fiscal policy and a partial depoliticization of fiscal policy. However, the consequences of such an attempt were not necessarily in line with expectations: as we see in the case of output gaps, moving fiscal rules to a completely technocratic realm produced new forms of contestations and political discussions. In this paper, I investigate how contestation around the use of output gaps in European fiscal governance reveals some of the unintended political consequences of technocratic fiscal governance.

Despite aiming for less politicized discussions around budgetary politics, technocratic fiscal rules generate a new form of politics that connects both to the economic method behind the numbers used for fiscal surveillance and the politics around technocratic fiscal rules (Clift 2022). The literature on the use of economic indicators in governance

I would like to thank Daniel Mügge and Leon Wansleben for being my supervisors on this project. For helpful comments, I am also indebted to my current supervisor Martin Höpner, as well as Matthias Thiemann, Vanessa Endrejat, Iacopo Mugnai, Anna Hehenberger, Giovanni Pasinetti, and Edin Ibrocevic. I am particularly grateful to all my interview partners without which this project would have not been possible.

has already highlighted how moving political decisions outside the realm of politics through technical devices has controversial effects. The very same indicators upon which this form of governance is established offer a shaky foundation as their construction is partial and based on ideological assumptions regarding the reality they are asked to govern (Mügge 2016; 2020; Aragão and Linsi 2020). Moreover, moving to technocratic governance tends to crowd out discussions regarding the politics behind the use of such indicators in favor of technical discussion (Tesche 2022). Despite these important insights, this literature has left open some questions on how technocratic governance materializes in practice and what its direct effects are: How does it transform actor constellations involved in fiscal governance? How does it reshape existing cleavages? What kind of new resources become important in handling the new forms of conflicts?

I argue that, within this new form of politics where technical discussions supplant political ones, technocratic actors gain a new role in defining the space where political discussion can happen. For this reason, actor expertise and their belonging to particular expert communities is crucial to generate a new interpenetration between political motives and technical debates. This intersection not only alters existing conflicts within EU fiscal governance but also extends debates on fiscal targets beyond the confines of fiscal governance.

Investigating how this type of politics unfolds in the context of post-crisis European fiscal rules is an important, yet missing, step in understanding the current dynamic of the euro area economic governance. This paper investigates those unexplored questions and focuses on the debate around correctly calculating fiscal targets between Italy and the European Commission in the period 2014–2019. Using process tracing, I reconstruct and compare two phases of such a debate, highlighting how different actor constellations and political dynamics can generate different outcomes under the same structures of technocratic policymaking. The comparison of the two phases shows the different possible intersections between fiscal politics and technocratic governance in the EU system of fiscal rules.

The paper is structured as follows: The first section reviews the significant theoretical contributions over the post-crisis reforms particularly with respect to the novel instruments in fiscal surveillance. This section also describes the output gap and offers glimpses into the debate about its functioning. The second section describes the methodological approach and the logic of the case selection. The third section presents the results from the case study. The final section concludes by connecting the findings to the proposed theoretical framework developed in the first section.

2 Doubling down on rules: Technocratic fiscal politics in the EMU post-sovereign debt crisis

EU policy makers responded to the sovereign debt crisis by readapting the institutions of economic governance that rule budgetary politics in the eurozone, namely the Stability and Growth Pact (SGP), the regulatory regime that, since the inception of the monetary union, has aimed to limit fiscal imbalances by controlling debt and deficit levels. Regardless of the different interpretations of the crisis' origins, it is evident that its unfolding confronted the eurozone with significant challenges that demanded effective policy responses. The event triggered a profound transformation of economic governance in the euro area, powered by the introduction of stronger technocratic management heavily relying on rigid rules, deadlines, and economic indicators for monitoring (Schmidt 2020). This paper focuses on the consequences that this move towards technocratic management produced on the political dynamics between EU institutions and national member states. However, to understand this current regime architecture we need to first review the political and technical struggles at its inception. Many other policy responses would have been possible, including Eurobonds, EU level wage coordination, the creation of a fiscal union etc., according to many scholars and practitioners better suited to address the plethora of issues that the sovereign debt crisis had uncovered (Matthijs and McNamara 2015).

I contend that we can group existing literature on the matter into three interpretation lines: intergovernmental power-based; supranational; and ideational. I argue here to not take these as competing explanations but rather useful conceptual lenses to look at different sides of the issue. Following intergovernmentalism, the rules reflect the interest clashes within the euro area and represent much more the preferences of northern European countries for national adjustment mechanism rather than debt mutualization (Carstensen and Schmidt 2018; Schimmelfennig 2015). Consequently, this power imbalance is reflected in the diffusion of a dominant ideological interpretation of the crisis: the widespread cognitive understanding of its origins in the fiscal profligacy of the south made European leaders interpret the events as a failure of the SGP (Matthijs and McNamara 2015; Schmidt 2020). Through the lenses of the Brussels-Frankfurt consensus (Matthijs 2016), the crisis response focused therefore on stricter and more specific rules that transformed fiscal policy in an increasingly technocratic way, where budgetary decisions are insulated from political debates and are driven by the use of technical models and indicators, such as the output gap (Matthijs and McNamara 2015). Moreover, such a solution benefitted supranational institutions, which could expand their powers and increase influence over national budgets. Nevertheless, a full supranationalization was not possible, as the fiscal policy issue entailed many veto points (Verdun 2015). The European Commission gained a central role in the implementation of a mix between soft and hard rules giving increasing room for discretion in its operation (Bauer and Becker 2014; Verdun and Zeitlin 2018).

However, the materialization of this form of governance and implementation of rules have entailed close dialogue between national governments and the European Commission, where technical discussions have not fully overshadowed political decisions. The focus on the functioning of such a new regime has meant very little attention has been given to how such technocratic management has developed in practice. Recent contributions have highlighted how attempts at moving economic governance, and particularly fiscal surveillance, to a rule-based technocratic environment generates innovative political dynamics that intertwine science and policymaking (Clift 2022; Tesche 2022). Attempts at depoliticization result in the creation of a new complex form of governance, in which the governing objects of technocratic policymaking, such as economic indicators, forecasts and methods, take a central stage in political discussion. This focus on the constitutive elements of technocratic governance reveals the social and political construction of the technical pillars upon which this governance is constructed. While supporters of technocratic governance depict moving to rule-based fiscal policy as a mechanistic straightforward process, in reality transforming fiscal policy in a "strict technical" rulebased system is a rather messy and arbitrary process, riddled with uncertainty.

First, technical models used in technocratic economic governance appear to be less straightforward than commonly assumed. This exercise of making distributional choices by default relies on the use of macroeconomic indicators such as public deficits or output gaps that are calculated on extremely political formulae, riddled with distributional implications (Mügge 2016; 2020; Tesche 2019).

Second, rule-based fiscal governance advocates assume an unrealistic version of scientific economic knowledge oriented around an apolitical consensus, whereas in reality academic economics is constantly evolving and fundamental debates around the ideological foundations of commonly used economic models permeate the discipline (Clift 2022).

Attempts to use complex economic models as value-free tools and as signposts for distributional decisions for fiscal policymaking give rise to a plethora of knowledge controversies specifically related to the very essence of technocratic rules, i.e., an interpenetration between science and politics rather than a replacement of the political by the technical (Barry 2012). When the policy field becomes increasingly technical, the economic models underlying the rules become the battleground for ideational power quests (Mügge 2016). Those power quests intertwine with existing cleavages of interest, such as the North–South divide in the EMU, generating a complex mix of political and technical motives in the functioning of modern governance (Barry 2012).

Finally, the necessity to address these new conflicts reshapes actor constellations involved in fiscal policymaking and the negotiations between the EU and national levels, increasing the importance of technocratic actors on both sides. The move towards technocratic fiscal rules empowers *governmental epistemic communities* (Dunlop 2010),

such as finance ministry bureaucrats, but also technocrats working at DG ECFIN,¹ granting them a new role in setting what kind of discussions should take place in the fiscal policy arena (Matthijs and Blyth 2017). Those actors, thanks to their expertise, gain power in reshaping what is deemed as "legitimate" discussion in the fiscal policy field and ability to use what Blyth and Matthijs (2017) (referring to Thomas Kuhn [1996]) call "paradigmatic incommensurability," as a political instrument to defy other actors' policy proposals when these do not fit in with the prevailing paradigm. Moreover, the increasing importance of technocratic actors has generated new questions for the political side on how to interact with this new empowered group: the relationship between political and technocratic actors has become a fundamental element in understanding how this new techno-political type of politics is shaped and develops.

These fundamental new dynamics have so far been neglected by the existing scholar-ship on the post-crisis response. Nevertheless, since the crisis and the reforms, European politics has become more controversial, domestically salient, and politicized than ever before (Schimmelfennig 2014). I therefore argue that this attempt of routinizing fundamental decisions in economic governance has not necessarily provided a more stable functioning of this policy realm or taken away the arbitrariness from the situation; rather, through unintended effects, it has reshaped the politics around fiscal policymaking.

The dynamics of the debate on using output gaps showcase some of these new political dynamics. The centrality of the output gap, used for assessing the budgetary structural position of countries' fiscal plans, is a feature of the post-crisis economic governance framework and its role has sparked a heated debate that has involved academics, European and national leaders (Brooks and Basile 2019a; 2019b; 2019c; Costantini 2018; Tooze 2019). The centrality of this indicator in the European system of fiscal rules has produced important and unforeseen consequences: its difficult estimation, its pro-cyclical trends, and its use in the pervasive fiscal surveillance by the European Commission have restricted space for fiscal intervention in response to the sovereign debt crisis, especially in southern Europe. It is therefore critical to understand the dynamics of its contestation and its operation within the system of EU technocratic fiscal rules.

This paper investigates the politics around the output gap contestation by addressing the following research questions: Did the move towards technocratic fiscal rules succeeded in depoliticizing fiscal policymaking in the EMU? If not, what kind of new political dynamics did it generate? How does this new interpenetration between the technical and the political reshape actor constellations and resources involved in the discussions around fiscal governance?

DG ECFIN is the directorate general inside of the European Commission responsible for fiscal surveillance. Within DG ECFIN, the Output Gap Working Group is responsible for the technical discussion of the methodology related to the estimation of output gaps.

To investigate the question, this paper uses process tracing and reconstructs the development of the output gap contestation in Italy. Tracing the origins of the contestation and the conditions that triggered it and shaped its development, this paper shows the different facets of this new form of technocratic fiscal politics and draws elements of a theoretical mechanism about the functioning of technocratic governance in practice. In the following section, I briefly introduce the empirical strategy employed to study the output gap debate in Italy. Later, I go deeper into the empirical parts explaining the functioning of the output gap and its role in European fiscal rules and later its contestation in Italy.

3 Research Approach

The following section analyses the effects of the move towards technocratic fiscal governance and traces the contestation over using output gaps in the euro area's fiscal governance by examining the case of Italy and its negotiations with the European Commission between 2014 and 2019. This study uses theory building process tracing (Beach and Pedersen 2013) which aims to construct "theories of casual mechanisms that are applicable beyond the single case" (Beach and Pedersen 2013, 154). This paper starts with the international contestation around the use of output gaps for fiscal governance between the European Commission and Italy. It investigates the necessary and sufficient causes that led to the appearance of the contestation, its enlargement, and the involvement of different type of actors. I inductively delineate the scope conditions that allowed the contestation to come about by connecting it both to the historical dynamics of the Italian political scenario after the crisis as well as the long chain of consequences of the changes in European economic governance.

To empirically trace this process, I use different data sources, including policy documents by the Italian government and the European Commission. I complement this analysis with the use of grey literature. Fifteen expert interviews support the documents' analysis. The respondents included members and former members of the Italian finance ministry, the European Commission, the European Fiscal Board, and the Italian Fiscal Council. For reasons of anonymity, those interviews cannot be quoted directly; it should be kept in mind that they served mainly as background information for the reconstruction of the contestation and the analysis of the documents. The following section provides a brief historical background on the context in which the contestation has developed.

Italy under European economic governance

At the end of the 2010s, after a long decade of efforts, Italy was still facing hard times trying to escape the recession trap which began with the onset of the sovereign debt

crisis (Storm 2019). Despite some commonalities with the trajectory of other southern European economies, the debate on the reasons for Italy's enduring low growth is still open (Notermans and Piattoni 2019). Many different sets of explanations have been used to understand the root causes of Italy's stagnation (for a review see Krahé 2023).

Membership of the euro has strongly affected the Italian political landscape. The common currency requirements have deeply influenced public spending decisions since the early 1990s, triggering a wave of critical structural reforms and austerity measures (Sacchi 2018; Storm 2019). In spite of this transition, during the decade following the sovereign debt crisis, Italian growth remained lower than other euro area countries, even the peripheral ones (Storm 2019). As the sovereign debt crisis unfolded, Italy became one of the biggest threats to eurozone stability. Despite two full decades of public austerity, Italy had and still has one of the highest levels of public indebtedness of the entire euro area (with an even stronger increase with the Covid-19 pandemic). Being one of the largest economies of the euro area, often considered "too big to fail," as well as one of the founding members of the European Community, the destiny of Italian public finances always seems to strongly intertwine with that of the common currency (Badell et al. 2019).

Due to Italy's lasting and severe economic condition, its situation under the post-crisis fiscal framework was at the very best ambiguous (Moschella 2017). After public austerity failed at providing fuel for new growth but depressed internal demand, more austerity and structural reforms were to come (Storm 2019). However, due to the need to show strong commitment to the European project, Italy stood by the rules (Badell et al. 2019; Moschella 2017; Krahé 2023; Sacchi 2015). Moreover, it is essential to keep in mind that many Italian economists at the time were the primary advocates for the "expansionary fiscal consolidation" logic that lay at the heart of the post-crisis framework (Dellepiane-Avellaneda 2015; Helgadóttir 2016; Storm 2019).

After the crisis, Italian underperformance generated multiple lines of tension between the Italian government and European institutions, where Italy consistently demanded more flexibility and emphasized the need to restore growth-boosting mechanisms (Carstensen and Schmidt 2018). Those frictions often managed to capture international attention due to the crucial role that Italy plays in the eurozone dynamics. Moreover, Italy has an important legacy of technocratic ruling, dating back to the '90s, particularly connected to membership in the common currency. The logic of *vincolo esterno*, i.e., the presence of an external pressure that would isolate fiscal decisions from seeking short term electoral gains, has for long ruled the decisions in monetary and fiscal policy that brought Italy in the common market (Jones 2017; Radaelli 1998; Baccaro and D'Antoni 2022). Understanding how the Italian political landscape moved from a widespread consensus on the benefit of technocratic handling of European matters to a heated and lasting contestation allows this study to showcase some of the specific political dynamics generated by technocratic fiscal rules.

Studying this contestation offers a new angle to the analysis of the post-crisis scenario in Italy, one that goes beyond the description of structural dynamics but looks at the effect that a specific idea of handling fiscal policy through strict and technical rules has generated. Moreover, the output gap itself represents a crucial element in the renewed European fiscal framework, since it provides a foundation to the whole new architecture of fiscal monitoring (Heimberger, Huber, and Kapeller 2019). Having been the center of widespread criticism and discussion, the output gap reveals the complexity of making a very political side of policymaking technical.

The output gap and its pitfalls

This section summarizes the major fault issues of the output gap model, highlighting related aspects of instability and latent contestability. Understanding this indicator's complexity is a fundamental step to shed light on the political dynamics that develop through its use. The following explanation of the output gap complexity clarifies the contestability potential inherent in its usage in politics. Moreover, this explanation provides an insight into the technical debate on the matter within the expert community.

The output gap is a tool used to assess the fiscal space of a country, and it is pivotal to the estimation of structural balance (SB). The SB captures a country's public spending at some defined level of output or policy target, which is considered to remain unaffected by fluctuations of the business cycle (Costantini 2015). In a nutshell, it estimates the difference between government revenues and expenditures net of good or bad economic cycles. This assessment offers a snapshot of the underlying condition of an economy, separating its structural position from the cyclical one. It is used, therefore, to calculate the structural budget, i.e., an estimate of the structural economic conditions of a country, a fundamental cornerstone of the post-crisis EU system of rules. In distinguishing between cyclical and structural conditions, the output gap estimates the relative position of a country to its potential (the above-mentioned defined level of output). The output gap, indeed, is basically defined as the difference between the actual output (current output that reflects the business cycle) that a country has in a specific year and its potential output, namely the output that its economy would have if it would be running at maximum potential (thus a measure that should represent the structural performance of the economy).² Potential output is defined as "the level of output that can be produced with a 'normal level' of efficiency of factor inputs" (Havik et al. 2014, 11), namely by exploiting all factors at non-inflationary levels.

² Potential output represents the output that can be produced if the economy were operating at maximum sustainable employment, where unemployment is at its natural rate. This means the maximum level of output that can be produced without inflationary pressures. When output is above potential, it means that growth is causing inflationary pressures (Okun).

³ Quotation marks in original text.

In the context of countercyclical fiscal policy, a positive output gap would signal that the economy is overheating, because it is running over its potential, and therefore generates inflationary pressures. Similar pressures would steer policy in the direction of fiscal consolidation, aimed at enhancing the potential of the national economy (and thus closing the gap). Conversely, a negative output gap would signal that an economy is underutilizing its resources. Such a trend would push policy towards fiscal expansion, as it would signal slack in the economy and, simultaneously, space for a demand-driven stimulus. In turn, this indicator signals when growth is on an undesirable path regarding inflation dynamics.

Estimating potential output is a complex and controversial procedure. The disputes over the correct methodology are vast and they revolve around three fault lines: (1) the estimation method problem; (2) the statistical filtering problem; and (3) the pro-cyclicality & pessimism issue. Concerning (1), discussions on the theoretical approach of potential output estimation focus on distinguishing approaches based on purely statistical estimations or a production function (Costantini 2015). Statistical approaches rely on deducing current growth dynamics purely from past growth dynamics. Production-function approaches represent an exercise in economic theory that is based on assumptions about the evolution over time of the growth components of an economy (assuming that growth of potential output is only a supply-side phenomenon). The choice among these two models has significant consequences on the components of the calculations and the theoretical assumptions behind the estimation procedure.

The purely statistical approaches rely on applying a statistical filter⁴ to time series data on the evolution of real GDP. The filter allows separating cyclical fluctuations from structural ones by smoothing the impact of cycles over the trend GDP growth (Hodrick and Prescott 1997). In turn, this results in estimating potential output as *trend* output (Fontanari, Palumbo, and Salvatori 2019; Palumbo 2015).

These purely statistical approaches⁵ tend to have two significant drawbacks: on the one hand, because the trend is stochastic,⁶ the decomposition of the series between trend, cyclical, and accidental tends to be arbitrary, and the result changes by using different filters; on the other hand, positive and negative output gaps estimated in a purely statistical way tend to be uncorrelated with inflation trends (Fontanari, Palumbo, and Salvatori 2019).⁷ Those shortcomings have made the output gap inherently unreliable, which

⁴ In the case of the EC, a Hodrick-Prescott filter.

⁵ Statistical approaches tend to be defined as "theory-free," but they do actually rely on strong theoretical assumptions, such as the one that assumes that actual output tends to fluctuate around potential output (Fontanari et al. 2019).

⁶ Stochastic means that the trend has a random probability distribution that can be analyzed statistically but not exactly predicted.

This implies that the actual phenomenon that this indicator aims to measure, i.e., the path that growth is taking concerning inflation dynamics, might be misrepresented by this type of estimation.

has led international organizations such as the OECD and the IMF, and the European Commission, to progressively abandon this set of approaches (Morrow et al. 2015).

The production function (PF) approaches, also often called "economic methods," estimate potential output through a series of assumptions about the potential supply of an economy (Morrow et al. 2015). This class of estimation approaches is considered to better link potential output estimates to economic theory. However, it shows the critical drawback of requiring many presuppositions on an economy's productivity, estimated by a combination of factor inputs multiplied by total factor productivity (TFP). These assumptions relate particularly to the concept of the natural rate of unemployment (NAIRU)⁸ and the difference in methods used to estimate it (Fontanari, Palumbo, and Salvatori 2019; Heimberger and Kapeller 2017; Palumbo 2015). The Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment (NAIRU) is the theoretical level of unemployment at which inflation is believed to remain stable. While its very existence in empirical terms is debated, it nevertheless remains a target in policymaking (Yglesias 2014). NAIRU estimates are included in the production function because they offer a basis for estimating labor inputs, calculated as the total working hours offered by the active labor force (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017).

Concerning (2), the critical analysis of the different estimation techniques for the factors involved in the PF approach, especially the NAIRU estimates, has stimulated another debate. Criticism often relates to the volatility of forecasts in real time: in such approaches, the NAIRU is often computed as the "trend component" of the actual unemployment rate, removed from cyclical factors. Most approaches rely again on the use of statistical filters (in the EC case, Kalman filter) to estimate this trend, which updates forecasts as soon as new information is available, giving an oversized role to the most recent data. This feature of statistical filtering, eventually, shows the tendency to produce pro-cyclical estimates that make fluctuations in the natural unemployment rate follow the current one, "naturalizing" unemployment at any given moment.¹⁰

Moreover, this process basically ends up estimating potential output again as a form of trend output, just in a more complex and indirect way¹¹ (Fontanari, Palumbo, and Salvatori 2019). This critical relevance of new information inherent in the use of statistical filters also creates continuous changes in past estimates and reassessments of the trends. Such constant corrections invalidate the reliability of policy prescriptions based on past estimates (Fontanari, Palumbo, and Salvatori 2019; Heimberger and Kapeller 2017).

⁸ Non-Accelerating Inflation Rate of Unemployment.

⁹ For reasons of space, I cannot go into detail on the debate over NAIRU and the natural rate hypothesis.

Applying these concepts results in the definition of some level of unemployment (the natural level) as natural, inherent, or normal to the system.

¹¹ Also relying on the unproven assumption that potential evolution closely follows the actual evolution.

Concerning (3), in the European context, the global financial crisis was followed by a general drop in potential output estimates for the entire eurozone (but mainly for southern European countries), resulting from changes in the NAIRU estimates. The estimates' adjustment has generated a strong pro-cyclicality in potential output forecasts. As actual output worsened and unemployment rose, the technical features of the statistical filtering created similar trends for potential output and the natural rate of unemployment, effectively closing the output gap for many countries (Arbogast, Van Doorslaer, and Vermeiren 2023). In turn, this meant that despite rising unemployment after the crisis, those countries did not benefit from an opening up of the output gap, which would have granted space for public spending.

As the output gap plays a central role in the eurozone fiscal framework, being used to measure countries' fiscal efforts under the surveillance of the European Commission, its inherent pro-cyclicality has had significant consequences for specific countries - southern European in particular - steering policy in the direction of structural reforms rather than fiscal stimulus (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017). As a consequence of these technical issues, many critics pointed to problems using output gaps as central indicators for fiscal monitoring. Basing policy advice on such a shaky estimate seems to produce more harm than good (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017; Heimberger, Huber, and Kapeller 2019; Brooks and Basile 2019a; 2019b; 2019c; Tooze 2019; Sumner 2020). The problems inherent in estimating output gaps have contributed to its transformation into a controversial element of the post-crisis European framework. In order to understand the development of the Italian contestation, it is crucial to grasp the technical uncertainty around both this indicator and the approach chosen by the European Commission to estimate it. Such uncertainties enabled technocrats at national and European levels to leverage existing technical debates in political negotiations about fiscal targets. In what follows, I present the methodological approach chosen by the Commission.

The history and role of the output gap in the European framework

Calculating output gaps, inherent in the estimation of the structural balance (SB), i.e., an estimate of the actual deficit of a country that is neither dependent on structural conditions nor one-off exceptional measures (negotiated politically), significantly entered the EU fiscal framework with the first reform of the Stability and Growth Pact in 2005. This revision of the Pact, a consequence of the violations of the nominal ceilings for debt and deficit by many countries (in particular, France and Germany), was directed at better accounting for the impact of cyclical conditions on revenues and expenditure and the way they influence budgetary decisions (Costantini 2015). Such an orientation implied focusing the assessment on fiscal efforts rather than outcomes, and introducing measures that would better allow separating cyclical conditions from the structural setting of an economy. Against this background, the structural balance was given new centrality in the EU framework. As a matter of fact, despite being previously already

available and in use, the SB presence was limited to an informal role, i.e., as a working instrument (Larch and Turrini 2010).

Consequently, its relevance was strengthened during the post-eurozone crisis reform process. With the adoption of the Fiscal Compact in 2013, the SB became central in the eurozone architecture of fiscal rules (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017).

The structural balance is used in the evaluation of fiscal policies regarding deviations from the Medium-Term Objectives (MTOs). Under the preventive arm of the Stability and Growth Pact, MTOs were put in place to ensure sound fiscal health: due to an evaluation of a country's economic situation and sustainability conditions, they set targets for structural budget adjustments (at a rate of 0.5% of GDP as a benchmark) (European Commission 2019). All countries are required to make more adjustments when the economic situation is favorable, and less in hard times. However, countries with high debt burdens (like Italy) are asked to make faster progress towards their objective (i.e., more adjustment).

Against this background, the output gap model has been used as the monitor mechanism in estimating the structural balance. As the stance of fiscal policy is counter-cyclical, positive output gaps signal the existence of space for fiscal expansion; negative output gaps signal the need for consolidation.

In the European context, the methodology for estimating output gap is decided within the Output Gap Working Group (OGWG), a permanent working group of DG ECFIN, where delegates – technocrats – from each country's finance ministry discuss technical aspects of the model and reach the so-called "commonly agreed methodology." This methodological agreement represents a set of rules and parameters that should be able to accommodate all countries' needs and specific economic structures in the making of this indicator (Heimberger et al. 2019). The group has existed since the early 2000s and has focused on improving the calculation of this indicator, even before it became central for fiscal monitoring. The actual methodology chosen by the Commission has its origin in the approach used by the OSCE, one of the international organizations at the forefront in developing the output gap methodology.

Despite initial enchantment with the advantages that such an estimate would offer, the shortcomings of the SB on estimating the underlying fiscal position and the structural adjustment emerged quite early in its adoption (Larch and Turrini 2010). The conceptual beauty of this indicator – namely its simplicity and intelligibility by political leaders¹² – conceals a plethora of practical issues (Larch and Turrini 2010). As mentioned above, the tendency to pro-cyclicality and the uncertainty of output gap estimates among oth-

¹² At least in its simple and direct mechanism that automatically determines the fiscal stance in connection with the difference between actual output and potential. However, its technical makeup is far from being easily intelligible, as shown above.

ers have a material impact on its actual functioning as a tool for policy monitoring and thus national policymaking.

After having given up a statistical approach in 2002, the Commission methodology today relies on a Cobb Douglas production function (Costantini 2017). This approach has received much criticism in recent years due to a set of issues connected to the estimation of the structural unemployment and Total Factor Productivity (TFT), i.e., a measure of technological progress. The criticism relates to the aforementioned estimation method problem (1) and the statistical filtering (2), as it relates to both the methodology for the estimation of the single components and the overall specification of the production function.

Concerning structural unemployment, the Commission uses the trend component of the NAWRU,13 calculated with a Kalman statistical filter, as a proxy. As discussed previously, the use of Kalman filtering tends to often produce very pro-cyclical measures, due to the recursive nature of such a tool and its tendency to give disproportionate relevance to the newest data (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017). On top of this technical issue, the Commission relates the trend component of the NAWRU to the concept of the natural rate of unemployment - at which wage inflation does not accelerate - taking a somewhat debatable approach to economic theory. As, according to theory, the natural rate should only reflect labor market rigidities, the actual approach of the Commission, using the Kalman filtered NAWRU as a proxy, estimates it as a mix of structural and cyclical factors (Heimberger, Huber, and Kapeller 2019). Moreover, using the NAWRU as a policy target is in and of itself a disputable exercise that has received many critiques in recent years: the extreme uncertainty that comes with the estimates (very sensitive to the forecasts horizon and other technical aspects) as well as the empirical evidence that shows rather an insensitivity of wage inflation to the actual unemployment rate, has cast serious doubts on the possibility of using such a measure for structural unemployment (Fioramanti et al. 2020; Stirati 2016). Concerning total factor productivity, the EC production function uses the famous Solow residual as a proxy for technological progress, which is known to be a catch-all variable for all factors that contribute to changes in GDP not related to labor and capital (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017). This variable is again unobservable, and its capacity to capture the actual dynamics of technological change is debatable (Reati 2001).

Despite the introduction of many improvements, such as the Plausibility Tool in 2016, which were supposed to reduce the dimensions of uncertainty connected to the measure, the European Commission itself acknowledges that the methodology still carries uncertainty over *reference models*, *processes*, *and parameter values* (Hristov, Raciborski,

¹³ Non-Accelerating Wage Rate of Unemployment. The Commission uses the NAWRU as the unemployment rate at which wage inflation remains stable, relating it directly to the concept of the NAIRU, which normally refers to the unemployment rate at which price inflation would remain stable. The two terms are used quite interchangeably by the EC (Heimberger et al., 2017).

and Vandermeulen 2017). Those aspects of uncertainty have been at the center of methodological discussion over the years within the OGWG and have until recently remained confined within technical circles. However, when the structural balance (and thus the output gap) became central in the Commission framework for fiscal monitoring, the discussions over the technical details of this model crossed the boundaries of this technical group and moved to the political and public arena. Particularly in the case of Italy, it became a matter of continuous discussion for over five years, involving in different ways new actors and venues. In the following section, I reconstruct the contestation.

4 Minding the gap: Origins and development of output gap contestations in Italy

First phase: Expertise and knowledge communities

In November 2014, the Italian finance minister Pier Carlo Padoan appeared in an interview with the *Financial Times*, accusing Brussels of "shaky accounting" (Politi 2014). He claimed that the Commission apparatus for evaluating fiscal policies was ill-suited for the decisions at stake (Politi 2014). Using his expertise as a former chief economist at the OECD, he laid out a technical critique of the potential output estimates used by the European Commission, showing how those were miscalculating Italy's performance. Such a public statement was issued in a highly tense moment of the budgetary approval procedure: the government at the time was led by Matteo Renzi, who led a coalition between the center right Democratic Party (PD) and smaller centrist and center right forces. Just before, the draft budgetary plan presented by Italy on October 15 (following the European Semester calendar) had mentioned critiques to the potential output measures and offered a divergent estimation of Italian fiscal space from the European Commission estimations. This allegation was the first step of a contestation that lasted for over five years, leading to heated debates between Rome and Brussels.

The dispute related to the estimation of the structural adjustment needed for Italy under the new framework: Padoan argued that the Commission methodology miscalculated the actual position of Italy's public finances and that, therefore, there was actually more room for flexibility in approaching the MTO than the Commission envisaged. Despite adopting the same methodology (i.e., the Commonly Agreed Methodology), Italy presented a different estimation of the space for public spending: the Commission estimates showed a 3.5% of GDP output gap for Italy, which would have required (following the medium-term objectives) a reduction of the structural budget deficit of 0.7%. Italy estimated a slightly different value by using another set of parameters and measures compared to those of the Commission (mainly a different timespan on the statistical filters). However, in the *Financial Times* interview, Padoan compared the EC estimate with that of the OECD, which showed an output gap of 5.1%. If the OECD

estimation had been used, Italy would not have had to provide any adjustment for that current year: the situation would have qualified as negative enough to reduce pressure for adjustment (Politi 2014). At the core, the Italian ministry argued that the EC methodology underestimated Italy's potential GDP growth and that the required adjustment relied on unstable calculations.

This public claim by the Italian finance ministry did not remain isolated. Soon after, a group of well-regarded Italian economists wrote an article explaining the theoretical and empirical flaws of the Commission methodology in an Italian newspaper (*lavoce. info*) (Cottarelli, Giammusso, and Porello 2014b). That venue became the arena for a confrontation directly with the Commission: in the next few days, a debate around the output gap methodology developed between EC economists and the group of Italian economists (Cottarelli, Giammusso, and Porello 2014a). Not long after, the Commission openly addressed the methodological problems with a publication actively defending its approach as the outcome of negotiations of different interests in the framework of a "commonly agreed methodology" (Havik et al. 2014).

After these first shots were fired, the controversy remained silently in the background of the political debate: every year onwards under the ministry of Padoan, when Italy presented the draft budgetary plan to the Commission, there would be discrepancies in the measures and a mention of the methodological issue. Several interviewees argued that this appeared to be an attempt to make a political point by means of a technical critique. Usually, during the budgetary procedure, there would be informal contacts between the ministry and the Commission in the run-up to the budgetary season aimed at obtaining the least different measures on public finances indicators, amongst which was the structural balance (in order to appease the possible conflict and increase the credibility of Italian public finances). When Pier Carlo Padoan came to office, a clear attempt to make those measures as divergent as possible was made, aiming to spark a discussion on the divergent estimates. To be clear, that did not mean tweaking the numbers but rather showing how changing small aspects of the parameters (such as the timespan over which the cycle is calculated) would result in a completely different assessment of the adjustment required.

However, despite the issues at stake being quite high, this open-ended debate among economists did not become the focus of institutional conversations about the budget and, for the moment, did not further expand into a broader public discussion inside or outside Italy.

In March 2016, the dispute reached another high point, as Italy led a group of countries (Lithuania, Slovakia, Luxembourg, Portugal, Spain, Slovenia, Latvia) asking for a revision in the projection horizon of the output gap forecast exercise. This request resulted in an exchange of letters with the Commission, authored by the eight finance ministers: the aim was to achieve a small methodological change, i.e., extending the horizon of two years to four, despite maintaining the same general approach. The argument put

forward by this group of countries focused on the increasing uncertainty in output gap estimates, especially in times of crisis, and the inconsistencies between the approach used by member states and the Commission's approach.

Fixing the temporal horizon issue would have realigned most countries' estimates to the Commission's, generating a more transparent and accurate framework for evaluating structural efforts. Moreover, the letter suggested the need to complement the use of the output gap with other indicators, considering the unreliability of its estimation in real-time (Country Members 2016). The Commission accepted the criticism and later changed the forecast horizon with an extension.

This change by the EC brought a moment of closure to the issue, without, however, completely satisfying Italy's – and other countries' – demands. The change of the horizon would partially improve the situation of Italy but would not solve the problem of relying on only one shaky indicator for estimating the fiscal space. Later in October 2016, the Commission introduced the so-called Plausibility Tool as a part of a *constrained discretion approach to the Production Function methodology* (Hristov, Raciborski, and Vandermeulen 2017). Acknowledging the uncertainties that come with estimating output gaps in real-time and the inaccuracies of the EC methodology, the Commission introduced this instrument for ex-post checking the reliability of the output gap's estimate with a range of values. If the estimated output gap fell outside that range it is considered "potentially counter-intuitive," and its estimation might need to be revised (Hristov, Raciborski, and Vandermeulen 2017).

Despite these changes, subsequent budget approval cycles were repeatedly accompanied with criticism of the methodology in the discussions between the Italian finance ministry and the European Commission (Ministero dell'Economia e delle Finanze 2016; 2017; Padoan 2016). It became particularly important in 2017, when Italy risked an EDP (Excessive Deficit Procedure), as its expenditure plans seemed to deviate too far from reaching the medium-term objectives fixed for the country. Italy mentioned the methodological problem again when asking for more flexibility (Padoan 2017). This time, however, as the issue had recently reached a partial closure, the Commission was not particularly willing to listen to this further technical criticism. Up until this point, despite the EC having recognized the legitimacy of the points raised by the Italian government, the issue never expanded into a larger institutional discussion. Within the European bureaucracy, the dispute remained pretty invisible and did not trigger any major renegotiation of the complete architecture of fiscal rules. Nevertheless, Italy received no sanction as it was eventually considered to be broadly compliant with the rules.

In 2018, Italy held elections that resulted in the creation of an anti-establishment government, formed by a coalition of the right-wing Lega Nord and the anti-system Movimento Cinque Stelle. This change in government also marked a turning point in the process.

The change in government sealed the end of the first phase of this contestation in which the role and expertise of the finance minister determined the development of the dispute. In fact, in the first instances, the contestation remained mostly confined within the institutional dialogue between Rome and Brussels and attracted mainly the attention of local expert communities. These first stages entailed a thorough technical contestation that required its perpetrators to be informed and competent on the methodological elements of the output gap calculation. Despite seeming trivial, it is essential to keep in mind that the extreme complexity of the technical make-up of the model isolates a rather small group of people competent enough to understand and criticize its technical aspects. Even within the Commission or the Italian finance ministry, as confirmed during the interviews, only the few directly involved in its construction would be able to understand and fully debate all aspects of the methodology.

This phase shows that, under Padoan's finance ministry, there came a realization that the new framework was built on an unstable ground, despite its aim to ensure transparency and non-arbitrary management of fiscal policy. This unstable ground could be shaken whenever it was useful for political gain. As in 2014, a discourse of flexibility in the rules again came on the agenda of European leaders, thanks to the efforts of the Italian and French government, and an opportunity window to steer the fiscal stance partially away from austerity seemed to open up (Carstensen and Schmidt 2018).

In this context, the expertise and international credibility of the finance minister himself could be used as a weapon to gain legitimacy in criticizing the EC approach, and obtain further flexibility: Padoan, thanks to his expertise, was recognized as a good spokesperson for such critical remarks and was thus listened to and taken seriously. Such legitimacy did not come only from his ability to present a sharp critique, but also from his belonging to the same experts' community – of mainstream economists working in international institutions – of the Commissioners working on the methodology in Brussels. Moreover, Padoan's position as a member of both worlds, the technocratic one and the political, gave him the ability to navigate the complexity of the interpenetration between the technical and the political of the post-crisis fiscal policy field.

Consequently, the Commission, particularly DG ECFIN, became the site of an ideational discussion over the technical aspects of a model that in reality disguised a conversation over different understandings of the necessary path that fiscal policy should have followed to counter the crisis. These different understandings were related mainly with the objectives and focus of fiscal policy (within the same broad paradigm) rather than with the benefits of the technocratic handling of this policy realm. The output gap critiques in this phase did not aim to get rid of this system of technical rules and models, but rather to show that the very same rules could be interpreted in a very different way by comparatively skilled local technocrats belonging to the same experts' community. As mentioned before, Italian economists – including the ones that agreed on the critique offered by Padoan – were also supportive of the EC logic that pervaded the rules, and they maintained consensus on the general apparatus. The dispute they engaged in clearly

resembled a scientific debate, where the aim was to highlight the technical inconsistencies in the functioning of the rules and claim power through applying expertise on how the estimates should have been used. As the field of fiscal policy had been more technical, the only legitimate critique would be of a technical kind, and the only legitimate perpetrators would be actors recognized as valid members of the European fiscal policy community. The dispute about the output gap did not, however, disappear after these first instances.

Second phase: Public politicization and international attention

The second phase of this contestation took place in a different context, in which Italy was under the rule of populist, anti-establishment, and eurosceptic government. In the following analysis, I show that the attitude of the government towards European institutions and fiscal rules is a crucial element in explaining how the contestation developed in this phase, because it enabled interpenetration between technical and political motives in the output gap discussion and helped to expand it beyond the limits of European economic governance. The fact that a eurosceptic government leveraged a technical dispute for clear political purposes without specific engagement with the elements of the original controversy shows how deeply technocratic fiscal governance has transformed the lexicon and the actors connected to fiscal governance.

Already at the beginning of its mandate in 2018, the government attempted to overturn the Italian fiscal stance, reversing some of the structural changes that the Italian welfare state had undergone in the previous years. The government fiscal plan revolved on the introduction of an income support scheme (*Reddito di cittadinanza*), in line with the Commission recommendations on the European Social Pillar, and a pension reform (*Quota 100*), partially lowering the retirement age for specific categories of workers. From the first months, relations between Italy and European institutions became particularly heated, as the leader of the Lega Nord, one of the two vice-prime ministers of the government, openly showed his willingness to engage in a political fight over the rules for fiscal spending.

At the time of the first budgetary cycle, the discussion over fiscal objectives translated into a political fight. In October 2018, one week before presentation of the draft budgetary plan, the recently created Italian Fiscal Council¹⁴ did not validate the macroeconomic planning of the government, warning about the absence of complete coverage for the planned expenses and, thus, the risk of exceeding the deficit ceiling set by the European rules. A few weeks later, the Italian draft budgetary plan was rejected for the

¹⁴ The Parliamentary Budget Office (*Ufficio Parlamentare di Bilancio – UPB*) was created in compliance with the Two-Pack rules in 2014. This moment is the first time in which it actively participated in the debate over budget decisions.

first time ever by the Commission due to its risk of non-compliance with the MTOs envisaged for Italy. The budget included a deficit forecast of 2.4%, much higher than the one required to comply with the target set for Italy under the preventive arm of the SGP. If such a deviation would have remained, an Excessive Deficit Procedure (EDP) could have been opened against Italy, which would have resulted in possible sanctions, making Italy's position in the surveillance process even more complicated (and likely impacting on Italy's ability to finance itself on sovereign debt markets).

A reference to the divergent estimates of the output gaps was included in the budgetary plan, as a partial justification for breaching the set limits (Ministero dell'Economia e delle Finanze 2018). The refusal of the planned expenditure triggered an exchange of letters between the finance ministry and the European Commission: the Italian government justified the increase in spending as a necessary step for bolstering growth and considered the deviation from the set targets only temporary and necessary to give some breadth to the Italian economy (Tria 2018).

These letters did not, however, further engage in a critique of the Commission estimates as a way to justify the deviation from the parameters. The response from the Commission denied further flexibility for Italy, highlighting that Italy had committed to the targets a few months earlier (when the previous government was still in charge), and that Italy had benefitted many times from further flexibility in the rules. Eventually, the finance ministry had to come up with a corrected budgetary plan, which tried to find a compromise in the deficit forecast, despite maintaining the two main policy targets of the new government in place: the so-called citizens' income, a comprehensive system of unconditional income support, and a "flat tax" for small business and the self-employed. Eventually, the EC approved Italy's plan, without however being able to pull the plug on this strand of contestation.

Soon after the output gap issue revived and reappeared. As Italy was about to face the risk of an EDP, the contestation moved to another arena: the leader of the Lega Nord and also vice-prime minister in office, Matteo Salvini warned multiple times in the press that European fiscal rules needed to be changed, as the current status was limiting Italy's performance (Rossi and Jones 2019).

As the Commission warned Italy of its deviation from the debt rule and the risk of incurring an EDP, Italy's response pointed to the different economic situations depicted by Brussels's measures and theirs (Moscovici and Dombrovskis 2019; Tria 2019). In contrast to previous heated moments in the dispute, this specific moment captured the attention not only of the Italian media and Italian economists, but also the scholarly community outside Italy, which, surprisingly, seemed to stand by the point being made by an anti-establishment eurosceptic government (Giles and Johnson 2019).

Afterwards, developments in the contestations clearly exceeded the boundaries of Italy's fiscal policy decisions. The vicissitudes of Italy became the central point of a plethora

of articles, working papers, and twitter campaigns aimed at spreading awareness and critical remarks on non-measurable indicators used in evaluating fiscal plans by the European Commission (Brooks and Basile 2019b; Costantini 2018; Tooze 2019). This exposure drew even more international attention to the vicissitudes of Italian fiscal policy decisions, which soon after reached the highest point of tension in this overall debate. At this juncture, there seemed to be general agreement in the scholarly economist community on the difficulty of relying on estimates of the output gap in real time for fiscal monitoring because it requires including a high degree of uncertainty in fundamental policy prescriptions. The criticism aligned economists of usually different positions, from heterodox to the left of the mainstream. The technical debate on the output gap became a site for ideological discussion amongst economists from different camps not only on the uncertainty of the output gap technical estimate, but also on the ideological assumptions regarding the impact of fiscal policy on growth. The technical indicator became, therefore, the battleground for both an academic and a political discussion.

Eventually, the warning of the Commission was formalized into a document, sent at the beginning of June, forecasting that Italy would not have met its objectives in reducing the debt both for 2019 and 2020. The Commission did not seem to show particular sympathy for the methodological critique, pointing out many times how Italy agreed to those targets in the first place and that the methodological discrepancies had already been discussed and "solved" in previous years (Dombrovskis and Moscovici 2018). Eventually, the government had to approve a conditional budget freeze of two billion, facing the risk of a sanction amounting to 0.7% of Italy's GDP (around three billion euros).

Subsequently, the government also introduced corrections to the budget that reduced the deficit for 2019 to 2.0% instead of the foreseen 2.4% (the original MTOs set it at 1.8%). This change allowed that year's structural balance to broadly be in line with the targeted MTO. After these changes, the finance minister Giovanni Tria sent an additional letter to the European Commission ensuring Italy's commitment to complying with future targets (Tria and Conte 2019). This led to the Commission dropping the case for an EDP and judging Italy as being broadly compliant with the SGP parameters.

This phase entailed a vastly different kind of contestation than the previous phase. In this case, the role of the finance ministry and the depth of the technical critiques were rather limited, but international visibility and the stakes at play were much higher. Those differences can be explained in multiple ways: on the one hand, the lesser involvement of the finance ministry can be justified by the somewhat isolated position that Giovanni Tria held over this period. Tria was not directly affiliated with any of the parties, and his selection procedure had been shown to be particularly troubled. As interviewees confirmed, Tria's role in the government was to mediate between the other parties and tame the desire of the Lega Nord, in particular, to oppose European targets and objec-

¹⁵ The previous finance minister had been vetoed by the head of state due to anti-euro attitudes.

tives. Thus, it seems reasonable that he had no interest in pushing for a further critique of the Commission's authoritative power.

Moreover, many interviews highlighted the relative independence that the finance ministry has in the Italian political setting. The finance minister does provide a political direction to the work of the bureaucratic apparatus, but it is also true that when it comes to very technical matters such as the ones we are describing, the autonomy of civil servants/technocrats is quite extensive.

On the other hand, the differences between the two episodes give insights on the development of knowledge controversies. In the first phase, the main issue was acknowledging the existence of a problem with the EC estimates and using expertise to offer a critique of the fiscal objectives through the same language in which they were formulated, one of technical matters. As the field of fiscal policy has been object of this interpenetration between scientific and policy objectives, the only way to legitimately talk about fiscal matters becomes one of technical disputes. However, as soon as the technical critique gained legitimacy and the experts' consensus had broken down, the overall shadow of objectivity and lack of arbitrariness had dissolved. Thus, a different kind of critique could be put forward: a political one that only partially and instrumentally could appeal to the technical aspects of the original dispute. In fact, we can see that the political critique appears when there is overall agreement that the technical model of the Commission presents flaws and inconsistencies.

However, the original academic dispute, revived by the political dispute, is also reinvigorated and reopened by its involvement in policy: the indicator becomes the site for a face-off between economists of different camps.

5 Conclusions

The move towards technocratic governance in EU fiscal surveillance has deeply transformed the environment around fiscal policy decisions, reshaping the political dynamics connected with fiscal policy. Reconstructing the output gap's controversy here reveals previously unexplored aspects of the fiscal politics surrounding the euro and its fiscal rules. Introducing the output gap as a central tool for fiscal monitoring did not provide a "stable and consensual foundation over which political agreements can be played out," but rather "a shifting surface on which disputes can foment and acquire significance" (Barry 2012, 328). I argue that these dynamics are related to two main aspects of this episode: one connected to the output gap itself, and another to the wider politics of technocratic governance.

First, estimating the output gap is a complex and challenging exercise that relies on many assumptions and statistical tools, the accuracy of which is often unclear. It is a debated procedure and particularly unreliable when used for real-time estimations (Heimberger and Kapeller 2017). Furthermore, it requires a set of somewhat arbitrary choices and presuppositions over economic phenomena that raise questions and generate debate. As a result, its inherent features create an unstable foundation for a system of governance that uses rules and technical devices to escape the ambiguities of political choices. The discussion over the possible reforms of EU fiscal governance is currently moving away from the centrality of the output gap. However, current proposals from the Commission still aim to rely on other technical indicators such as DSA analysis, the shortcomings of which are similar to those of the output gap (Wester 2023).

Secondly, this case study sheds light on the new policy scenario that resulted from post-crisis fiscal governance reforms. Despite technocratic fiscal rules attempting to isolate fiscal policy from political discussions, the reconstruction here shows that political conflicts do not disappear but instead hide behind technical disputes. Technocratic fiscal rules transform discussions over budgetary matters, changing the actor constellations involved and the content of debates. There is a shift in the type of conflicts generated in this environment: controversial issues appear to be more and more focused on the technical elements of the post-crisis architecture rather than its normative foundations, and they progressively transform into transnational controversies involving expert communities that transcends national government communities and gravitates within and around European institutions.

Moreover, this process has progressively changed the lexicon used to discuss fiscal objectives, transforming the discussion of budgetary issues from confrontation over different understandings of the finality of fiscal intervention to apparent technical debates. The politics of the economic method and the politics of numbers take center stage (Clift 2022). However, these discussions embody relevant debates over the finality of fiscal policy, as well as different understandings of the inner workings.

In this new scenario, the expertise of actors involved becomes pivotal. On the one hand, expertise allows actors to bring academic discussion, full of open-ended debates and loose ends, into the policymaking realm, breaking down the facade of simplicity that the political use of science puts forward. Without engaging in technical critique, it is impossible to break down the veil of objectivity that surrounds technical decisions and hides their contestability. Nevertheless, that is not a sufficient condition to trigger politicization, because the enacting of technical critiques requires actors interested in pursuing political fights instrumentally using technical disputes. In this fashion, expertise becomes an important tool in the hands of policymakers eager to contest elements of the technocratic fiscal policy environment.

The findings elucidate a mechanism that relates ideational contestation and more traditional interest-based political fights. It appears that the move towards more technocratic management of fiscal policy produces a feedback mechanism. The use of scientific tools provides legitimacy for political decisions, depicting actions as objectives and endorsed by the authority of science. However, as technical indicators take center stage, their inner workings mean technical debates can enter the political and institutional discussion. This duality within indicators reflects the very natural effect of translating scientific objects into the realm of politics. As science is intrinsically an unstable field, open to contradiction and falsification, its use in policy moves the same dynamics to the political field. The role of actor expertise and the structures of national expert communities in this stage is central, as it allows for such a translation to happen.

These findings show the existence of new dynamics in the post-crisis reform framework that not only directly connect with interest-based political fights but also tie into the world of ideational contestations and expert communities. More scholarly attention should be given to the interplay of those dimensions in the multilevel decision-making field of European institutions. More attention should be paid to how the structures of national expert communities may influence the ability of actors to exploit this element of the European fiscal framework in the process of bargaining for fiscal space. As the current discussion on the future of fiscal rules still expects to prominently rely on bargaining between member states and the EU Commission, understanding the way in which national experts interact with a system of technocratic policymaking is a fundamental step in envisioning future dynamics connected to fiscal policy and their possible shortcomings.

Finally, this study offers an alternative narrative of the political dynamics that have characterized the Italian political landscape in the past few years. Going beyond the mere interpretation of Italy's constant push for flexibility in fiscal rules through the lens of opposition between southern indebted countries and northern solvent ones, this paper proposes a more nuanced reconstruction of the Italian situation under the post-crisis fiscal framework. This might represent the first step for more future research on the role that expertise and technical knowledge play in the current political dynamics.

References

- Arbogast, Tobias, Hielke Van Doorslaer, and Mattias Vermeiren. 2023. "Another Strange Non-Death: The NAIRU and the Ideational Foundations of the Federal Reserve's New Monetary Policy Framework." *Review of International Political Economy*, published online September 1, 2023, doi: 10.1080/09692290.2023.2250348.
- Aragão, Roberto, and Lukas Linsi. 2020. "Many Shades of Wrong: What Governments Do When They Manipulate Statistics." *Review of International Political Economy* 22 (1): 88–113.
- Badell, Diego, Alessandro Natalini, Fabrizio Di Mascio, Edoardo Ongaro, Francesco Stolfi, and Tamyko Ysa. 2019. "Too Big to Fail? The Dynamics of EU Influence and Fiscal Consolidation in Italy and Spain (2008–2016)." *Public Management Review* 21 (9): 1307–29.
- Barry, Andrew. 2012. "Political Situations: Knowledge Controversies in Transnational Governance." *Critical Policy Studies* 6 (3): 324–36.
- Bauer, Michael W., and Stefan Becker. 2014. "The Unexpected Winner of the Crisis: The European Commission's Strengthened Role in Economic Governance." *Journal of European Integration* 36 (3): 213–29.
- Beach, Derek, and Rasmus Brun Pedersen. 2013. *Process-Tracing Methods: Foundations and Guidelines*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Brooks, Robert, and Basile Greg. 2019a. *Global Macro Views Campaign against Nonsense Output Gaps (CANOO)*. Technical Report, Institute of International Finance. https://www.iif.com/Portals/0/Files/4 IIF05232019 GMV.pdf
- Brooks, Robert, and Basile Greg. 2019b. *Global Macro Views Nonsense Output Gaps*. Technical Report, Institute of International Finance. https://tinyurl.com/ac26ht8u
- Brooks, Robert, and Basile Greg. 2019c. *Global Macro Views The Growing Debate over Output Gaps*. Technical Report, Institute of International Finance. https://tinyurl.com/34ykv2mc
- Callon, Michel. 2006. "What Does It Mean to Say That Economics Is Performative?" *CSI Working Paper* 005, Centre de Sociologie de l'Innovation (CSI), Mines ParisTech, Paris.
- Capussela, Andrea Lorenzo. 2018. *The Political Economy of Italy's Decline*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Carstensen, Martin B., and Vivien A. Schmidt. 2016. "Power through, over and in Ideas: Conceptualizing Ideational Power in Discursive Institutionalism." *Journal of European Public Policy* 23 (3): 318–37.
- Carstensen, Martin B., and Vivien A. Schmidt. 2018. "Power and Changing Modes of Governance in the Euro Crisis." *Governance* 31 (4): 609–24.
- Clift, Ben. 2022. "Technocratic Economic Governance and the Politics of UK Fiscal Rules." *British Politics* 18: 254–78.
- Costantini, Orsola. 2015. "The Cyclically Adjusted Budget: History and Exegesis of a Fateful Estimate." *Working Paper* 24, Institute for New Economic Thinking, New York.
- Costantini, Orsola. 2017. "Political Economy of the Stability and Growth Pact." European Journal of Economics and Economic Policies 14 (3): 333–50.
- Costantini, Orsola. 2018. "Why Hysteria over the Italian Budget Is Wrong-Headed?" *Institute for New Economic Thinking (INET)*, October 18. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.ineteconomics.org/perspectives/blog/why-hysteria-over-the-italian-budget-is-wrong-headed
- Cottarelli, Carlo, Federico Giammusso, and Carmine Porello. 2014a. "Perchè la crisi complica la stima del pil potenziale." *Lavoce.info*, November 11. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.lavoce.info/archives/31242/perche-crisi-complica-stima-pil-potenziale/
- Cottarelli, Carlo, Federico Giammusso, and Carmine Porello. 2014b. "Politica di bilancio in ostaggio della stima del pil potenziale." *Lavoce.info*, November 4. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.lavoce.info/archives/31060/relazioni-pericolose-stima-potenziale-politica- bilancio/
- De Grauwe, Paul 2013. "The Political Economy of the Euro." *Annual Review of Political Science* 16 (1): 153–70.

- Dellepiane-Avellaneda, Sebastian 2015. "The Political Power of Economic Ideas: The Case of 'Expansionary Fiscal Contractions." *British Journal of Politics and International Relations* 17 (3): 391–418.
- Dunlop, Claire A. 2010. "Epistemic Communities and Two Goals of Delegation: Hormone Growth Promoters in the European Union." *Science & Public Policy* 37 (3): 205–17.
- European Commission. 2018. "Vade Mecum on the Stability and Growth Pact." *Institutional Paper* 075, European Commission, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, Brussels. https://economy-finance.ec.europa.eu/publications/vade-mecum-stability-and-growth-pact-2018-edition en
- Fioramanti, Marco, and Robert Waldmann. 2020. "The Stability and Growth Pact: Econometrics and Its Consequences for Human Beings." *Centre for Economic Policy Research (CEPR)*, November 19. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://cepr.org/voxeu/columns/stability-and-growth-pact-econometrics-and-its-consequences-human-beings
- Fontanari, Claudia, Antonella Palumbo, and Chiara Salvatori. 2019. "Potential Output in Theory and Practice: A Revision and Update of Okun's Original Method." *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics* 54 (C): 247–66.
- Fourcade, Marion. 2006 "The Construction of a Global Profession: The Transnationalization of Economics." *American Journal of Sociology* 112 (1): 145–94.
- Giles, Chris, and Miles Johnson. 2019. "Economists Bolster Salvini in Dispute over Rome's Spending." Financial Times, May 30. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.ft.com/content/28666e56-8154-11e9-9935-ad75bb96c849
- Havik, Karel, Kieran Mc Morrow, Fabrice Orlandi, Christophe Planas, Rafal Raciborski, Werner Röger, Alessandro Rossi, Anna Thum-Thysen, and Valerie Vandermeulen. 2014. "The Production Function Methodology for Calculating Potential Growth Rates & Output Gaps." *Economic Papers* 535, European Commission, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, Brussels. https://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/publications/economic_paper/2014/pdf/ecp535_en.pdf
- Heimberger, Philipp, Jakob Huber, and Jakob Kapeller. 2019. "The Power of Economic Models: the Case of the EU's Fiscal Regulation Framework." *Socio-Economic Review* 18 (2): 337–66.
- Heimberger, Philipp, and Jakob Kapeller. 2017. "The Performativity of Potential Output: Pro-cyclicality and Path Dependency in Coordinating European Fiscal Policies." *Review of International Political Economy* 24 (5): 904–28.
- Heimberger, Philipp, Jakob Kapeller, and Bernhard Schütz. 2017. "The NAIRU Determinants: What's Structural about Unemployment in Europe?" *Journal of Policy Modeling* 39 (5): 883–908.
- Helgadóttir, Oddný. 2016. "The Bocconi Boys Go to Brussels: Italian Economic Ideas, Professional Networks and European Austerity." *Journal of European Public Policy* 23 (3): 392–409.
- Hodrick, Robert J., and Edward C. Prescott. 1997. "Postwar US Business Cycles: An Empirical Investigation." *Journal of Money, Credit and Banking* 29 (1): 1–16.
- Hristov, Atanas, Rafal Raciborski, and Valerie Vandermeulen. 2017. "Assessment of the Plausibility of the Output Gap Estimates." *Economic Brief* 023, European Commission, Directorate-General for Economic and Financial Affairs, Brussels. https://economy-finance.ec.europa.eu/publications/assessment-plausibility-output-gap-estimates_en
- Jones, Erik. 2013. "The Collapse of the Bruxelles and Frankfurt Consensus and the Future of the Euro." In *Resilient Liberalism in Europe's Political Economy*, edited by Vivien A. Schmidt and Mark Thatcher, 145–69. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Jones, Erik. 2017. "Relations with Europe." Italian Politics 32 (1): 51-69.
- Krahé, Max. 2023. "Understanding Italy's Stagnation." *Background Paper*, Dezernat Zukunft, Institute for Macrofinance, February 13. https://www.dezernatzukunft.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/Krahe-M.-2023-Understanding-Italys-stagnation.pdf
- Kuhn, Thomas. 1996. The Structure of Scientific Revolutions. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Larch, Martin, and Alessandro Turrini. 2010. "The Cyclically Adjusted Budget Balance in EU Fiscal Policymaking: Love at First Sight Turned into a Mature Relationship." *Intereconomics* 45 (1): 48–60.

- Marcussen, Martin. 2009. "Scientization of Central Banking: The Politics of A-Politicization." In *Central Banks in the Age of the Euro: Europeanization, Convergence, and Power*, edited by Kenneth Dyson and Martin Marcussen, 373–90. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Matthijs, Matthias. 2016. "Powerful Rules Governing the Euro: The Perverse Logic of German Ideas." *Journal of European Public Policy* 23 (3): 375–91.
- Matthijs, Matthias, and Mark Blyth. 2015. The Future of the Euro. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Matthijs, Matthias, and Mark Blyth. 2018. "When Is It Rational to Learn the Wrong Lessons? Technocratic Authority, Social Learning, and Euro Fragility." *Perspectives on Politics* 16 (1): 110–26.
- Matthijs, Matthias, and Kate McNamara. 2015. "The Euro Crisis' Theory Effect: Northern Saints, Southern Sinners, and the Demise of the Eurobond." *Journal of European Integration* 37 (2): 229–45.
- McNamara, Kate. 2006. *The Currency of Ideas: Monetary Politics in the European Union*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Mc Morrow, Kieran, Werner Roeger, Valerie Vandermeulen, and Karel Havik. 2015. "An Assessment of the Real Time Reliability of the Output Gap Estimates Produced by the EU's Production Function Methodology." Technical report, European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/events/2015/20150928_workshop/pdf/paper_kieran_mc_morrow.pdf
- Moravcsik, Andrew. 1998. *The Choice for Europe: Social Purpose and State Power from Messina to Maastricht*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Moschella, Manuela. 2017. "Italy and the Fiscal Compact: Why Does a Country Commit to Permanent Austerity?" *Rivista Italiana di Scienza Politica* 47 (2): 205–25.
- Mügge, Daniel. 2016. "Studying Macroeconomic Indicators as Powerful Ideas." *Journal of European Public Policy* 23 (3): 410–27.
- Mügge, Daniel. 2020. "Economic Statistics as Political Artefacts." *Review of International Political Economy* 29 (1), published online October 1, 2020, doi: 10.1080/09692290.2020.1828141.
- Notermans, Ton, and Simona Piattoni. 2019. "Convergence Towards a Single Economic Model? Italy and Germany in the Interconnected Euro System." *West European Politics* 42 (5): 1015–40.
- Orphanides, Athansios, and Simon van Norden. 2002. "The Unreliability of Output-Gap Estimates in Real Time." *The Review of Economics and Statistics* 84 (4): 569–83.
- Palumbo, Alessandra 2015. "Studying Growth in the Modern Classical Approach: Theoretical and Empirical Implications for the Analysis of Potential Output." *Review of Political Economy* 27 (3): 282–307.
- Politi, James. 2014. "Italy Accuses Brussels of 'Shaky' Accounting." *Financial Times*, November 20. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.ft.com/content/86d522c8-70d5-11e4-85d5-00144feabdc0
- Radaelli, Claudio M. 1998. "Networks of Expertise and Policy Change in Italy." *South European Society and Politics* 3 (2): 1–22, published online November 19, doi: 10.1080/13608740308539535.
- Reati, Angelo. 2001. "Total Factor Productivity a Misleading Concept." *Banca Nazionale del Lavoro Quarterly Review* 54 (218): 313–32.
- Rossi, Sara, and Gavin Jones. 2019. "Italy's Salvini Says Vote Win Is Mandate to Change EU Budget Rules." *Reuters*, May 27. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.reuters.com/article/idUS KCN1SX0UR/
- Sacchi, Stefano. 2015. "Conditionality by Other Means: EU Involvement in Italy's Structural Reforms in the Sovereign Debt Crisis." *Comparative European Politics* 13 (1): 77–92.
- Sacchi, Stefano. 2018. "The Italian Welfare State in the Crisis: Learning to Adjust?" *South European Society and Politics* 23 (1): 29–46.
- Sandbu, Martin. 2017. Europe's Orphan: The Future of the Euro and the Politics of Debt. Princeton: Princeton University Press.
- Scharpf, Fritz W. 2014. "After the Crash: A Perspective on Multilevel European Democracy." *MPIfG Discussion Paper* 14/21, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne.
- Scharpf, Fritz W. 2016. "Forced Structural Convergence in the Eurozone Or a Differentiated European Monetary Community." *MPIfG Discussion Paper* 16/15, Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies, Cologne.
- Schelkle, Waltraud. 2012. "European Fiscal Union: From Monetary Back Door to Parliamentary Main Entrance." *CESifo Forum* 13 (1): 28–34.

- Schimmelfennig, Frank. 2014. "European Integration in the Euro Crisis: The Limits of Postfunctionalism." *Journal of European Integration* 36 (3): 321–37.
- Schimmelfennig, Frank. 2015. "Liberal Intergovernmentalism and the Euro Area Crisis." *Journal of European Public Policy* 22 (2): 177–95.
- Schimmelfennig, Frank. 2018. "European Integration (Theory) in Times of Crisis: A Comparison of the Euro and Schengen Crises." *Journal of European Public Policy* 25 (7): 969–89.
- Schmidt, Vivien A. 2008. "Discursive Institutionalism: The Explanatory Power of Ideas and Discourse." *Annual Review of Political Science* 11 (1): 303–26.
- Schmidt, Vivien A. 2015. "The Forgotten Problem of Democratic Legitimacy." In *The Future of the Euro*, edited by Mark Blyth and Matthias Matthijs, 90–114. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Stirati, Antonella. 2016. "Blanchard, the NAIRU, and Economic Policy in the Eurozone." *Institute for New Economic Thinking (INET)*, March 31. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.ineteconomics.org/perspectives/blog/blanchard-the-nairu-and-economic-policy-in-the-eurozone
- Storm, Servaas. 2019. "Lost in Deflation: Why Italy's Woes Are a Warning to the Whole Eurozone." *International Journal of Political Economy* 48 (3): 195–237.
- Streeck, Wolfgang. 2015. "Why the Euro Divides Europe." New Left Review 95, 5–26.
- Streeck, Wolfgang, and Kathleen Thelen. 2005. *Beyond Continuity: Institutional Change in Advanced Political Economies*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Sumner, Scott. 2020. "The' Output Gap Doesn't Exist." *Econlog Post*, April 22. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.econlib.org/the-output-gap-doesnt-exist/
- Tesche, Tobias. 2019. "On the Legitimacy of Fiscal Councils in the European Union: Trustees or Orchestrators of Fiscal Discipline?" *Journal of Contemporary European Research* 15 (1): 21–35.
- Tesche, Tobias. 2022. "Keep It Complex! Prodi's Curse and the EU Fiscal Governance Regime Complex." *New Political Economy* 28 (1): 29–41.
- Tooze, Adam. 2019. "Output Gap Nonsense." *Social Europe*, April 30. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.socialeurope.eu/output-gap-nonsense
- Verdun, Amy. 2015. "A Historical Institutionalist Explanation of the EU's Responses to the Euro Area Financial Crisis." *Journal of European Public Policy* 22 (2): 219–37.
- Verdun, Amy, and Jonathan Zeitlin. 2018. "Introduction: The European Semester as a New Architecture of EU Socioeconomic Governance in Theory and Practice." *Journal of European Public Policy* 25 (2): 137–48.
- Yglesias, Matthew. 2014. "The Nairu, Explained: Why Economists Don't Want Unemployment to Drop Too Low." *Vox*, November 14. Accessed February 13, 2024. https://www.vox.com/2014/11/14/7027823/nairu-natural-rate-unemployment

List of Policy Documents

Letters between European Commission and member states

Country Members. 2016. "Letter of Country Members to European Commission."

Dombrovskis, Valdis, and Serge Moscovici. 2018. "Letter from European Commission to Italian Finance Ministry."

Dombrovskis, Valdis, and Serge Moscovici. 2019. "Letter from European Commission to Italian Finance Ministry."

Padoan, Pier Carlo. 2016. "Letter from Italian Finance Ministry to the European Commission."

Padoan, Pier Carlo 2017. "Letter from Italian Finance Ministry to European Commission."

Tria, Giovanni. 2018. "Letter from Italian Finance Ministry to European Commission."

Tria, Giovanni. 2019. "Letter from Italian finance Ministry to European Commission."

Tria, Giovanni, and Giuseppe Conte. 2019. "Letter from Italian Finance Ministry and Prime Minister to European Commission."

Italian Draft Budgetary Plans

Ministero dell'Economia e delle Finanze. 2016. Draft Budgetary Plan 2017. Ministero dell'Economia e delle Finanze. 2017. Draft Budgetary Plan 2018. Ministero dell'Economia e delle Finanze. 2018. Draft Budgetary Plan 2019.

Recent Titles in the Publication Series of the MPIfG

MPIfG Discussion Papers

DP 24/6

F. Bulfone, T. Ergen, E. Maggor The Political Economy of Conditionality and the New Industrial Policy

DP 24/5 J. Beckert What Makes an Imagined Future Credible?

DP 24/4
J. Beckert, L. Arndt
The Greek Tragedy: Narratives
and Imagined Futures in the
Greek Sovereign Debt Crisis

DP 24/3 H. M. Schwartz **Triffin Reloaded:** The M.

Triffin Reloaded: The Matrix of Contradictions around Global Quasi-State Money.

DP 24/2 A. v. d. Heide Dealing Government Bonds: Trading Infrastructures and Infrastructural Power in European Markets for Public Debt

DP 24/1
A. Maschke
Talking Exports: The Representation of Germany's Current
Account in Newspaper Media

DP 23/6
T. Ergen, L. Schmitz
The Sunshine Problem: Climate
Change and Managed Decline
in the European Union

DP 23/5

I. Stamm, A. Sandham A Bitter Adjustment for German Family Capitalism: Succession and a Changing Ownership Transfer Regime

DP 23/4 L. Baccaro, B. Bremer, E. Neimanns What Growth Strategies Do Citizens Want? Evidence from a New Survey

DP 23/3 R. Mayntz Paradigm Shifts in Macrosociology

DP 23/2 S. Hadziabdic **Turning No Tides:** Union Effects on Partisan Preferences and the Working-Class Metamorphosis

DP 23/1
D. Tisch, E. Ischinsky
Top Wealth and Its Historical
Origins: An Analysis of
Germany's Largest Privately
Held Fortunes in 2019

DP 22/9 M. Höpner, L. Baccaro Das deutsche Wachstumsmodell, 1991–2019

DP 22/8
E. Neimanns, N. Blossey
From Media-Party Linkages to
Ownership Concentration:
Causes of Cross-National
Variation in Media Outlets'
Economic Positioning

MPIfG Books

J. Beckert

Verkaufte Zukunft: Warum der Kampf gegen den Klimawandel zu scheitern droht Suhrkamp, 2024

G. Rilinger
Failure by Design: The
California Energy Crisis and the
Limits of Market Planning
Chicago University Press, 2024

S. Rapic (Hg.)
Wege aus dem Kapitalismus?
Autorengespräche mit Colin
Crouch, Nancy Fraser, Claus
Offe, Wolfgang Streeck und
Joseph Vogl
Nomos, 2023

B. Bremer
Austerity from the Left: Social
Democratic Parties in the
Shadow of the Great Recession
Oxford University Press, 2023

A. van der Heide

Dealing in Uncertainty:
Insurance in the Age of Finance
Bristol University Press, 2023

L. Wansleben The Rise of Central Banks: State Power in Financial Capitalism Harvard University Press, 2023

A. Marktanner **Behördenconsulting:**Unternehmensberater in der
öffentlichen Verwaltung der
Bundesrepublik, 1970er- bis
2000er-Jahre
De Gruyter Oldenbourg, 2023

Ordering Information

MPIfG Discussion Papers

Order printed copies from the MPIfG or download PDF files from the MPIfG website (free).

MPIfG Books

At bookstores; abstracts on the MPIfG website.

www.mpifg.de
Go to "Publications."

New Titles

Consult our website for the most complete and upto-date information about MPIfG publications and publications by MPIfG researchers. To sign up for newsletters and mailings, please go the MPIfG website. On request to info@mpifg.de, we will be happy to send you our "Recent Publications" brochure. Das Max-Planck-Institut für Gesellschaftsforschung ist eine Einrichtung der Spitzenforschung in den Sozialwissenschaften. Es betreibt anwendungsoffene Grundlagenforschung mit dem Ziel einer empirisch fundierten Theorie der sozialen und politischen Grundlagen moderner Gesellschaftsordnungen. Im Mittelpunkt steht die Untersuchung der Zusammenhänge zwischen ökonomischem, sozialem und politischem Handeln. Mit einem vornehmlich institutionellen Ansatz wird erforscht, wie Märkte, Unternehmen und die Regulation der Wirtschaft in historische, politische und kulturelle Zusammenhänge eingebettet sind, wie sie entstehen und wie sich ihre gesellschaftlichen Kontexte verändern. Das Institut schlägt eine Brücke zwischen Theorie und Politik und leistet einen Beitrag zur politischen Diskussion über zentrale Fragen moderner Gesellschaften.

The Max Planck Institute for the Study of Societies conducts basic research on the governance of modern societies. It aims to develop an empirically based theory of the social and political foundations of modern economies by investigating the interrelation between economic, social, and political action. Using a variety of approaches and research methods, it examines how markets and business organizations are embedded in historical, institutional, political, and cultural frameworks, how they develop, and how their social contexts change over time. The Institute seeks to build a bridge between theory and policy and to contribute to political debate on major challenges facing modern societies.

